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I. Introducticn

The objective of this study is to assess the possibility
that the proposed Mill Bzsin Waterfront Special District contains
significant archaeological resources. The study has been per-
formed pursuant to the requirements cof the National Historic
Preservation Act, the National Environmental Policy Act, Execu-
tive Order 11553, the Natiocnal Adviscry Council on Historic
Preservation guidelines, and the requirements set forth in 35 CFR
80® and 23 CFR 771.

This assessment is based on a review of the literature and
an analysis of land medifications which may have resulted in the
preservation cr dcisturbance oI archaeclogiczsl rescurces. Ra-
search was conducted in the New York Public Library, Map and
Local History Divisions; the Brooklyn Historical Socisty; z=nd New
York University’s Elmer Holmes Bobst Library. Records of soil
borings cconducted in and near the project area were chtained fraom
the Subsurface Exploration Section of the New York City Depart-
ment of GBeneral Services. Dr. Bert Salwen served as Principal
Investigater for this study. Arnold Pickman canducted the re-
search and prepared the present report.

To simplify the following discussion, we have used the
terms "north" and "south"” to refer ta the directions perpendicu-
lar to Avenue U, rather than the actual geographical directions.
The terms "east" and "west" refer toc the directions parallel io
Avenue U.

II. Prehigteric Archaesoclgogical Sites

Information pertaining to prehistoric sites in New York City
derives in large part from accounts published before the large
scale land modificatiens which have occurred during the twentieth
century. These sites are shown on maps published by Bolton
(1822), the relevant portion of which is included here as Figure
1. Bolton’s map shows two extensive areas of prehistoric de-
posits located east and west of the project area. To the east,
Bolton shows a large area of shell deposits (site #52) an
BEergen Island. In addition to the shell deposits, Bolten
(1922:154) notes that "scattered objects" were found an the Is-
land. Shell deposits were still visible and artifacts were bheing
callected at this location as late as 1953@ (0’Halloran 1955@).
This site is located approximately 2200 feet ea=t of the project
area, and before the 20th century madifications, was separated
from it by Mill Dam Creek (see Figure 2).

Balton (1922) reports an extensive area of prehistoric de-
posits approximately 3800 feet west of the project ar=ga on the
western side of Gerritsen Basin (site #5@), also known as Ryders
Pond. 8plton includes a map which indicates that the deposits
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dFigure 1

“V'Prehistoric Sites near the Project Arca
~'Source: Bolton 1922: Map VIIIL
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The New Industrial Disirict
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MILL BASIN PLANT OF THE NATIONAL LEAD, COMPANY

This planz has been steadily enldrged by-a great nacional business organization. The leit-hand
building was-added in 1913; that on the right ia 1915.
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MILL BASIN REPAIR SHOPS OF THE ATLANTIC, GULF & PACIFIC COMPANY

Headquarters of one million dollars worth of floating plant of all kinds. This location on New Vork
Harbor, convenient to the oZices of the Company, possesses a peculiarly valuable advantage.

Figure 10z
Industrial Structures in the Proiect Area
Source: Atlantic,PGulf & Pacific Company 1916:16
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ILL BASIN
The New Industrial District
" on New York Hurbor
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A graphic demonstration of the enormous consumption of building materials in
the Mill Basin distzct The extessive areas still available insure a con=
v

tinuance of this groweil for many years.
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MILL BASIN DISTRIBUTION STATION OF THE GULF REFINING CO.
Ag admirable base from which is supplied 3 rapidly-growing section of the
2 gOu,uu people of Brooxlyn.

o

Figure 11
Industrial. Structures in the Pro ject ARea
Source: Atlantic, Gulf & Pacific Company 1916:20

(lower photograph only)
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Source: Sanborn 1907, plate 109
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Mill Basin - Cultural Resources “ 24

extended from Fillmore Avenue (Avenue R) to a peint south of
Avenue U. The site contained surface deposits of shell, animal
and fish bone and artifacts. 'Burials were reported from the

area of Avenue U. Although mast of the deposits were located
vest of Gerritisen Basin, Bolton also shows shell deposits immedi-
ately east of the Basin, between Avenues T and U. Bolton (1834)
refers to Ryders Pond as a villge site.

Bolten’s map (Figure 1) alsoc shows a smaller shell heap
located in the area approximately bounded by Avenue O, Fillmocre
Avenue, Utica Avenue and East 52nd Street, approximately 2200
feet north of the project area. Elevatiens shaown an the 189%
Hyde atlas indicate that the ground sloped upward from the tidal
marsh to the north and west. The area of this shell heap was at
an approximate elevation of 12-14 feet, apparently at or near a
loecal height-oi-land.

References to the sites in this area of Brooklyn, including
Ryders Pond, Bergen Beach and the Canarsie site further to the
east (Baolten's site #3531 - see Figure 1) usually agsecciate them
with the Canarsie group which inhabited this area at the time of
European contact. Unfortunately, the only published material
about these sites (Lopez and Wisniewski 1971, 1972) is the analy-
sis of material frem the Ryders Pond site collected from the sur-
face by D.B. Austin in the late 18%90s and early 150@=. The ma-
Jority of projectile points from the Ryders Pond collection are
Late Woodland types and Lopez and Wisniewski assign the site to
the terminal Late Woodland Classons Point focus. However;, the
ceramic evidence suggests that the =site may also have been cccu-
pied during the earlier Bowman's Brook focus. It also yielded
Middle Woodland ceramic sherds, and lithiec artifacts datable to
the Late Archaic and Transitional periods.

Ceci (1977) gstates that Ryder’s Pond "is an historic site
dating to the seventeeth and eighteenth centuries” (cited in
Department of the Navy 1985:3-31). However, the ccllection
contained a relatively small amount of contact period material,
including an iron axe and iroen projectile point, a copper projec-
tile point and two beads. Four kaolin pipes and a few metal
gpoen bowls cculd also date to the contact period. In sum, the
available evidence suggests that the Ryders Pond site contained
material which may have accumulated over a long time span, and
that the occupation was not restricted to the contact period.

A. Potential for Unreported Prehistoric Sites in the Project
Area

The possibility that unreported prehistoric archaeoleogical
deposits may have been present in the project area can be as-
sessed by comparing its physiegraphy and topography prior to 20th
century land modifications with that of the reported site loca-
tions=. .
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Several 19th century maps show the Jamaica Bay shoreline in
detail. One of these (Beers 1873) is included here as Figure 2.
Later maps (e.g. Hyde 189%) shovw this shoreline superimposed on
the later strest grid. We have used data from these maps to show
the shoreline and areas of tidal marsh cn the praject area map
(Figure 3}. *

The area which is now Mill Basin was the location of Mill
Island, which was separated from the shore by Mill Creek. Maost
of Mill Island consisted of tidal marsh. Accarding to a 1503
soils report cited by Van Wyck (1924:339-341) the Mill Island
salt meadow consisted of what was called Galveston Clay. The
surface of this deposit was described as black muck and a matted
mass of eel grass roots, with a bluish aor lead-colored silty clay

beginning at a depth of approximately two feet. The surface of
the CGalvestion Clay lay only a few inches above the limit of high
tide.

There were two areas of higher land on Mill Island, the ma-
jor portians of which were east and south of the project area.
However, it is likely that the edge of the larger area of high
ground intersected the eastern portions of lots 1120, 115@, and
114@, while the northwestern end of the southernmost, "becomerang-
shaped, " area may have intersected the southern portions of lots
1@85, 11920, and 1291 (see Figure 3},

The shore line north of Mill Creek consisted of an area of
tidal marsh bordering the dryer ground located north of the pro-
Jject area. East of the approximate present location of East S58th
Street, the narthern shoreline of Mill Creek was at or north of
the present location oi Avenue U. However, a hook-shaped area of
marsh extended south of Avenue U between 55th and 58th Streets.
This area is now occupied by lots 130, 143 and the eastern part
ci lot 114. Between the present location of East S8th and East
6@th Streets, another small area of marsh extended just scuth of
Avenue U.

A small tidal creek, bhordered by a narrow band of tidal
marsh extended to the northwest from the approximate location of
Avenue U and East 58th Street. The shell heap noted above be-
tween Utica Avenue and East 52nd Street was located just neorth of
this tidal creek.

Prehistarilc sites have been reported at the heads of and
adjacent to many of the tidal creeks running inland from Jamaica
Bay (Bolton 1926, 1922, 1934; Lopez and Wisniewski 1971; Pickman
1980Qa, 1S8@b). These sites are ugually located on dry land near
the edge of the tidal marsh. The Ryders Pond site, for example,
iz located on dryer ground west of Gerritsen Basin near the tidal
marsh. Bolton (1922) also notes a gsite at Flatlands, at the head
of Bedford Creek (which connected with what is now Paerdegat
Basin).
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Such environments would have offered several attractions to
Native American social groups. The marshes provided a scurce of
shell fish and waterfowl, while the tidal creeks provided access
to open water for fishing. The dry land/marsh edge habitat would
have attracted deer, providing hunting opportunities.

The Aqueduct =site at Hawtree Creek in Queens county was
located in such an environment - on higher ground adjacent to a
tidal Creek and the tidal marsh bordering Jamaica Bay. Archaeo-
logical bhorings tzken at the edge of the former marsh enccuntered
shell midden depos=its beneath overlying £ill, in some locaticns
overlying the marsh deposits. Apparently, the inhabitants of the
eite located on the higher ground dispaosed of {rash in the lower
lying area bhordering the marsh (Pickman 1580a).

Immediately ncrth cf Avenus U, a tangue o drv lzand pro-
jected into the marsh between Fearscn and 57th Streets just
west of the small tidal creek noted above. The marsh area im-
mediately scuth of this point could have been the locus of trash
deposits associated with any sites located on the higher ground.

The reported site on Bergen Island may have represented a
different functional type than those discusses abave. The site
was located on an area of higher ground in the middle cof the I=-
land, which was surrounded by marsh. This is an environment sim-
ilar to the upland areas surrounded by marsh which existed on
Mill Island. The Bergen Island deposits may have been assaociated
with a shellfish collecting station rather than a2 longer term oc-
cupation which would have reguired a source of water. It should
be noted, however, that Van Wyck’s map (1924, frontispisce) shows
what is labeled as an "Indian Well" on Bergen Island.

Neither shell deposits nor other indicatens of prehistoric
utilization have been reported on Mill Island. However, the
prehistoric inhabitants of this area may have utilized the nigher
ground on Mill Island as they did on Bergen Island. The presence
cf a historic period Eurcamerican occupation on Mill Island (see
below) suggests that water may have been available. It is pessi-
ble that the early historic period occupation on Mill Island re-
sulted in the obliteration oi any prehistoric surface deposits
on the small areas of higher ground prior to the reporting of
locations of prehistoric depesits in New York City by late 19th
and early 20th century writers.

In 1664, the Indians sold a tract of land near Flatlands
named Mashanscomacoke, which Bolton (13522:1959) translates as "a
much-enclosed place, " to the Europeans. Bolton (1922) agsociates
the name Shanscomacocke with the Ryder’'s Pond site. However,
Tocker (1901:31) translates Shanscomacoke as "’'the stepping
place, *i.e., ‘landing-place’” and Yan Wyck (1924:183) speculates
that this name may have actually been restricted to the two up-
land areas on Mill Island,. If Wan Wyck is correct, it is possi-
ble that the Indians may have utilized this land.
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B. Submerged'Prehistmric Sites

Consideration of the processes of tidal marsh formation
raises the possibility that prehistoric archaeoclogical sites may
remain protected beneath tidal marsh deposits.: During the Wis-
cansin glaciation, a large amount of water was tied up in the
continental ice sheets. This resulted in sez levels being much
lower than at present. Therefore, during the generally accepted
period of the first prehistoric occupation of the northeastern
United States, some 10, 000-12, 000 years ago, the Atlantic shore-
line was located on what is now the continental shelf and the
present coastal area was well inland (Emery and Edwards 1966;
Emery and Garrison 1567; Emery, Wigley et.al. 19687).

Witk the reitrsat c the Wiscocn=zin ice, watsr which har
tied up in the ice sheets was released back into the =ea, leading
to 8 rise in sea levels, inundation of the land, and resulting
changes in the shoreline. The actual rate of inundation was a
function both cof the release of water from the icz mass, and an
uplifting of the land surface as the weight of the glacial ice
was removed (isastatic rebound). The accepted rise in sea level
in relation to the land surface which resulted from these factors
includes a period of fairly rapid rise which lasted until 2000-
4900 years ago, with a continuing rise at a slower rate from
this period to the present (Emery and Edwards 1566; Emery and
Garrison 1967).

Because the shoreline environment of western Long Island
consists of gently slaoping Wisconsin glacial outwash plains, the
inundation of the land led to the development of extensive areas
of salt marsh.

The marshes begin to form wherever the water is shallow
encugh for eel grass to obtain a foothold, usually a foot or
twe below low-water mark, and where no strong currents are
flowing. The dead grass and the fine silt entangled with it
gradually accumulate until the ground rises well above low
water mark and marsh grass takes root upon it. The upbuild-
ing continues until the marsh reaches a level covered cnly
by occasional high tides (Fuller 1914:183).

From this description of the marsh formation process, it can
be seen that, in a period of continuously rising sea levels, the
formation of the marsh will continue, with the marsh surface at
any period being at, or slightly above, the level of high water.

Prehistoric archaeological sites dating prior to the Late
Archaic period are rare in coastal New York. If we assume that
throughout prehistory populations have availed themselves of the
food resources available in the shoreline environment, it can bhe
assumed that sites dating to this earlier prehistoric period
would be associated with the shorelines of these periods. Thus
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these sites would bhe located either underwater, or preotected be-
neath tidal marsh depcsits,

Prehistoric deposits and/or artifacts have, in fact, been
found beneath or in asscciation with peat deposits during
dredging activities and in archaeological excavations at a
number of locations in coastal New York and New England (e.g.
Salwen 19635, 1S&8; Bourn 1€72; Glynn 1953; Powell 1S65}).

bPata from available soil borings indicate that the eleva-
tions of the base of the deposits of peat and arganic silt in the
vicinity of the project area range from appraoximately 9.5 teo 13
teet. Curves have heen develcped, based con carbon-14 dating of
the basal peat and organic silt deposits, which indicate sea
level elevations in the New York City area a2t various times in
the gpast. Acceoring g cne such curve (Historic Conservsiicn and
Interpretation, Inc. 1%8Z3Z: Figure 3), inundation of the project
area would have occurred between approximately 2300 and 3809
years ago, Before that time it may have provided suitable
habitat for prehistoric Native American pecgles.

III. Historic Period

A. Schenck House and Mill

On May 13, 18664, John Tilton Sr. and Samuel Spicer of
Gravesend obtained an Indian deed to a tract of land known as
Equendito, or the Broken Lands, which included Mill Island.
This Indian deed was assigned to Elbert Elhertse in 1681.
Bailey (1936) speculates that Elbertse was actually in poce-
session of the land beiore this date and that Tilton and
Spicer may have been acting as agente for him.

The Hubbard map of 1566 shows that by this date a mill "no
doubt built by Elbertse in the two years since the Indian deed"®
had been constructed on Mill Island (Bailey 1936:66).

In 1673 Jan Martense Schenck purchased a one-half interest
in Mill Island and the mill. Schenck’s will, dated 1688, mentions
the mill, the island, and an "old house" (Black 1581:16). Bailey

-{1936) contends that Schenck probably built this house_gggz}ly

after he purchased the property in 16735.

The house and mill remained in the Schenck family until the
latter part of the 18th century when it was purchased by Jeris
Martense. In the early 19th century the property was owned by
the Caton family, and after Mary Caton married General Phillip 5.
Crooke, the mill and house came intc the possegsion of the Croocke
family (Black 1981; Bailey 129361},

This house, labeled "P.S. Crooke, " is shown on the 1873
Beers atlas map (Figure 2)}. The 1832 Dripps map shows a struc-

’

ture labeled "Croocke’s grist mill"” on Mill Island as we2ll as two
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ather nearby structures, presumably the house and an outbuilding,
while the 1855 Walling map shcews only a single structure labeled
"GCrist MillC™, Both the mill and the house steod on the northern-
most of the two upland areas noted abcve, the mill bheing situated
on the bank of Mill Creek. According to Van Wyeck ¢1924), Mill
Island was connected to the mainland by a road which ran across
the mill dam. Van Wyck (1924, facing pp. 61@; 614} shows two
drawings which supposgedly represent the mill and the Schenck
house in 1833. The drawings show the wmill standing on the west
side of the road with the house on the sast side and slightly
farther from Mill Creek. The caption to one of these drawings
indicates that the mill was torn down slightly before 1287@, and
it is not shewn in the Beers atlas of 1873 (Figure 2).

Atlases dating to the late 19th and earlv 20th century show
the Echencl house with repect ts ths madern strzet
1507 Sanborn Atlas (Figure 4) shows the house and two outbuilld-
ings, with the planned streets superimposed. The 1530 Sanborn
atlas (Figure 3) shows the house still standing in the bleck
boundad by East &3rd and East 54th Etresests and Avenuez Y and VY.
This location is one block =ast of the project area. The house
included 11 rooms and a cellar, with a stone root cellar in the
rear (New York Hereld Tribune 153@). The "L-shaped" rear exten-
sion shown on Figures 4 and 5 was added during the 18th century
(Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1546). The _Schenck _house was s_acquired by
the Brooklyn Museum in 13538 and i1t was subsequently d;sassembleH
and_partially’ reconstructed_on—theﬂfourthwfloon“of the 1 museum
(New York Herald Tribune 1930@; Schwartz.l19864),

C-_;---L- |"::

The site of the mill was apparently "where the school hand-
ball courts are now" (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1946). This statement
undoubtedly refers to the schoolyard area shown on Figure 5 imme-
diately socuth of the school building.

B. Naticnal Lead Ceompany Plant

The first structures to be erected within the project area
were a group of industrial buildings operated by the National
Lead Company. This factory complex was apparently established by
Robert L. Erecoke prior to 1S06. One scurce dates the establish-
ment of "the National Lead Works" to abput 1831 (Brooklyn Daily
Eagle 1S821). The 1899 Hyde atlas indicates that the Site was
owvned by the National Lead Campany. However, no structures are
shown on the property. It =should be noted that the 1912 Hyde
atlas alsc does not show the factory structures, though it was
definitely in operation befere this date. Thig raises a question
as to the accuracy of the 18989 Hyde atlas: it is possible that
the plant began operations during the 189@s.

The factory complex is first shown on the 1907 Sanborn
map, labeled "National Lead Company Crooke‘Works." It was locat-
ed en the property which now comprises lots 10%S®, 1091, and 1100.
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The National Lead Company was formed in 1890 and began eop-
erations -On-Jdanuary 1, 718927 (Natioral Lead Company 1901, 1925).
The company was formed through a merger of three manufacturers of
white lead. Cne of these, the Brooklyn White Lead Company, was
formed in 1825 and operated one of the first white lead factories
in the United States on Front Street in Breocoklyn (National Lead
Company 1923). The National Lead Ceompany’s one-hundredth an-
niversary booklet {(15235) lists the "Crooke Smelting and Refining
Works" under the company’s Atlantic Division properties. How-
ever, neither this booklet nor the annual reports of the company
for the years 18S3-1924 make any further mention of the Crocke
Works or its date of acquisition, neor is Robert Croocke listed as
a cerporate officer Thus the exact date of construction of the
plant is uncertain. . it was_ceéntainly-in .operation by 1805, since
in 1206 the annual shlpment of ore to Mill Island was report=d to
he 4200 tons, and ZEQY tons of solder, tTin and lead were regort-
edly shipped Zrom Mill Island (Law 1S26).

By comparing the National Lead company plant layout as
shown on the 1987 Sanborn map (Figure &) with thait shown on
Sanborn maps dating to 193@ and 19530 (Figures 7 and 8), it is
apparent that the structures shown on the later maps are not
the original ones. Comparison of the 1930 and 1953@ maps with the
project map (Figure 9) indicates that the later structures are
still standing.

The present buildings were apparently constructed in 1913
and 1915 and are shown in a photograph published in 1916
(Atlantlc, Gulf & Pacific Company 1916. See Figure 10a). Ac-
cording to the 139@7 Sanborn map (Figure 6), the original build-
ings at the Croocke works were mostly one and two story frame
structures. Several brick based chimneys stood apart from the
structures. The map also shows a well located west aof the main
factory building and a blacksmith shop located between the two
largest buildings.

Compariscn of the layout of the plant structures of 15@7
with those of 1930 and 19580 suggests that there are several areas
of the original plant site which would not have been substan-
tially disturbed by the later construction. In 1930 the =ite of
the well was cccupied by a small one story "cil cooking® struc-
ture which had been removed by 1930. It is likely that the
construction of this small building would not have involved
substantial excavatiocn, and the well shaft probably remains at
this location. The western portion of the blacksmith shop lo-
cation was occupied by a3 small one-story brick structure built
between 1939 and 195®, and it is possible that remains agsociated
with the blacksmith shop are preserved beneath and to the east of
it. Remains associated.with a_portiogn of the main factory build-
ing and various subsxdiary structures and_outbuildings should be

present in  the_southern_ _portion _of the property, since there was

-no subsequent constriuction. in this area. The extreme northern

portion of the main building also would have been unaiiected.
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Figure 12 shows the locations of the original buildings superim-
pased on the 1S30 Sanhorn map.

C. Dther Early 29th Century Structures

During the first decade of the 20th century the only other
structures present in the project area were twa boczt houses
shown on the 1907 Sanborn map (Figure 13) at the tip of the
"tongue" of marsh land which projected south of Avenue U between
East 59th and Street and Ralph Avenue (East 6@th Streest).

D. Land-filling and Other Early 20th Century Industrial
Activity

The Crocke Smelting Works property was the first tract of
marsh land within the project area to be filled-in. This would
have occurred prior to construction of the plant. The remainder
of the project area was apparently filled by the end of the
first decade of the 20th century. The land north aof Mill Cresk
between East 352nd Street and East 56th Street was filled begin-
ning in 1905 by John R. Corbin. The £fill material was dredged
from in front of the bulkhead and deposited behind it (Department
of Docks and Ferries 19035). Corbin must alsec have filled addi-
tional land toc the east, since the 1512 Hyde atlas shows his lum-
ber yard south of Avenue U between East 536th and East 57th
Streets. This is the land included in the present lot 1309. (It
should be noted that the planned street grid zs shown on the
early 20th century maps was subsequently modified. The widths oi
some blocks were reduced and an additicnal street, Pearsan
Street, wags added). '

The 1987 Sankorn map (Figure 1l4) shows twc "ald barges”
within the bulkhead line at East 57th Street, It is possible
that derelict vessels such as these were incorporated into the
f£ill.

Between 19086 and 1902, ownership of Mill Island was trans-
ferred in a series of real estate transacticns to the Atlantic,
Gulf & Pacifiec Company. The Company bulkheaded and filled-in
Mill Island, apparently using dredged fill material, creating 322
acres of upland (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 192%:; Bailey 1936&). The
Atlantic, Gulf & Pacific Company planned to divide the land feor
industrial sites. Photographs and a map published hy the Company
(Figures 1@, 1! and 15) show that by 1916, in addition to the
National Lead Company plant, the Atlantic, Gulf & Pzcific Ccmpany
had established a drydock on lots 1896 and 1195 and the Gulf Re-
fining Company had constructed storage tanks and several one-
story brick structures on lots 1069, 1064, 1076, 1381, 1085. By
1915, there were apparently "five or six manufacturing establish-
ments and commercial concerns" located at Mill Basin (Black
1581:42). In the 1520@’'s New York City dredged the creeks sur-
rounding Mill Island, creating Mill Basin (Black 1981:79).
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IV. Pregservation of Deposits

Deposition of landfill wauld have led ta the preservation of
any archaeological deposits present at the surface of the marshes
or in the two areas aof higher ground on Mill Island. Further-
mére, &hy additional fill which may have been deposited at the
National lLead Company site at the time of the construction of
the second set of buildings after 1910 could have preserved de-
posits asscciated with the early years of the plant’s operation.

Data about the depths of £ill in the project area can be ab-
tained by anzalyzing street corner elevations shown on various
maps and atlases as well as the results of =s0il berings in and

acjacent toc The project arss.
J <

The 12899 Hyde atlas does not show elevations of the undevel-
oped land con Mill Island. However, as noted previocusly, the

"areas aof tidal marsh can be considered to be approxinmately at

the high water elevation. This atlas does show elevations along
the line of Avenue U, ranging frowm 4.70 feet at East 55th Street
to 3.71 feet at East 58th Street. Since these streets had not
yet been opened it is possible that these figures represent
elevations to which the streets were to be graded when estab-

lished rather than actual elevations. However, because the lcca-
ticns of these elevations were near the northern limit of the
marsh (see Figure 3), it i=s possible that this land was actually

higher than the marsh further to the scuth.

Elevations after land-filling had taken place have been
cbtained from the 1929 Hyde and the 1930 and 1958 Sanborn atlases
and from a 1236 W.P.A. map. Elevaticns along Avenue U between
East 36th and East 538th Street range from 9.@ to 10.2 feet abave
the high water mark. Surface elevations indicated at boring lo-
cations south of Avenue U bhetween East S54th and East 55th Streets
are between 7.5 and 1@ feet. The records eof these borings, taken
prior to 1936, do not indicate depths of f£ill. However, assuming
that the marsh elevation prior to filling was approximately =zero,
7.5 to 1@ feet of f£ill overly the former marsh surface in this
area.

At the former locatien of Mill Island, sSouth of Mill Creelk,
elevations indicated along Strickland Avenue are 8.57, 9.8 and
7.37 feet at Mill Avenue, East 63rd and East 64th Streets, re-
spectively. Since these locaticns are in the former upland area
in the vicinity of the Schenck house and mill, the pre-fill el-
evations must have been above the zerc elevation. The amounts
of f£fill depeosited here were therefore less than indicated by
these map elevations. The one available boring record from this
upland area, near the intersection of Mill and Strickland Av-
enues, shows a surface elevation-of 5.0 feet. It is possible
that this U.5.G.S boring was done before fill was deposited in
this area. The difference between this elevation and that at the
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intersection as noted above (8.6 feet) would suggest the presence
agf some 3.5 feet of f£ill. Map elevations shown along Strickland
Avenue between Mill Avenue and 56th Drive range from 7.7 to 1.5
feet, with elevations of 8.5 and 8.6 feet in the vicinity of the
former National Lead Caompany plant. As discussed above, these
figures also represent depths of landfill, since the elevatiocn of
this former tidal marsh area must have been approximately =zero
prior to filling. Slightly less land-fill was depcsiited at the
end of Strickland Avenue, west of the 56th Drive intersection,
where the indicated elevaticns are between 5.7 and 6.5 feet.

Y. Summary and Analyeis

a substantizl number of prehistoric
1= G

e s .

- - AT R
I Jam=ic= _c-.y pubitalfats g [ ::'Z"l-'..A-ff

Although there are no documented prehistoric deposits within
the project area, such deposits could be present, protected be-
neath marsh deposits and later landfill, Early prehistoric occu-
pations of the project area would have occurred prior to the de-
position of tidal marsh deposits caused by rising seza levels.
Although the available data from soil borings is not extensive
enough to permit reconstruction of the pre-inundation landform,
it can bhe assumed that the tongue of land bordering the former
tidal ereek immediately north of Avenue U between Pearson and
East S57th Streets would have extended south of Avenue U, into the
project area. In addition, we can assume that the two upland
areas on Mill Island were larger and extended farther into the

‘project area.

During the latter part of the prehistoric period most of the
project area consisted of tidal marsh which would have been un-
suited for human habitation. However, waste materials resulting
from utilization of adjacent upland areas could have been dis-
posed cf in the marsh. Such depcsits would be located immedi-

ately above the marsh surface and would probably have been pre-

served beneath the later landfill.

The segments cf the project area most likely to contain
prehistoric deposits are shown on Figure 16. Examination of the
1530 and 1283@ Sanborn maps and the project map indicate that only
portions of these lots would have been affected by construction
after land-filling had taken place. Furthermore, it is likely
that much of the constructicn did not result in disturbance below
the landfill. Most of the structures did not have basements and,
except for one small underground tank in the nerthern part of lot
114, the gasoline storage tanks are above ground.

The_data indicate that remains-associated with the early
period of operation of the National Lead Company smelting plant,
dating to the last decade of the 19th century and the first
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decade of the 20th century, might -be laocated an lots 1099, 1091
and 11@@. These remains could include foundations and floars
associated with the main factory building and ocutbuildings, any
antifactual deposits located in the well and other sub-surface
features which may be present, and other depcocsits which may re=-
main in the open yard zrea. Such résources are the subject mat-
ter of industrial archeeclogy, and may be impartant in illuminat-
ing otherwise undecumented aspects of American industrial devel-
opment.

VI, Recommendations

-“-—-. =]
I

In order to determine the presence or absence of prehistoric\

rchaeclogical depogits in the areass noted abaove and shown an

= = zanlami~=l =

igurs 18, arzhasoclcogicszl boringcs should bBe underialten. Coniine-
ous sampling should be undertaken sc that the portions of the
stratigraphic cclumn immediately beneath the f£il}l deposits and
immediately below the marsh deposits are fully sampled. An
archaeclogist should be pressnt during the boring program, to
evaluate the results of these tests.

S W

Additional documentary research and a program of archaeo-
loglcal testlng cshould ke undertaken prior to any construction cn
lots 1@%1 and 110@. Testing should also be undertaken on lot
1080 at the locaticn of the Natiocnal Lead Company blacksmith
shop.

VII. Area of Indirect Impact

Three of the recorded prehistoric sites discussed previcusly
are located within the area of indirect impact. The=se ars th
sitee located at Bergen Beach and Ryders Pond, and the shell he=p
located hetween Fillmecre Avenue, Avenue 0 , Htica Avenue and
East 52nd Streets (see Figure 1). The major early histeric
period sites within the area of indirect impact are the former
locations of the Schenck house and mill, located immediately esast
of the praoject area, the former gite of the Stoothof-Bergen
house, lcocated socuth of Avenue V betweeen East 72nd and East 73rd
Streets in Bergen Beach (Bailey 1936), and the site of Gerrit-
sen’'s mill, loecated eon the west side of Gerritsen basin betwen
Avenues V and W (see Bolton 1922). By 1872, a number oi cther
structures were present within the indirect impact area (see Fig-
ure 2.

A 33@-acre segment of Floyd Bennett Field, including pre-
1941 buildings and runways, caomprises a historic district in-
cluded on the National Register of Historie Places {(Department of
the Navy 19835:3-31».

0f the above locations, the only ones on -city- owned land
are the Ryders Pond prehistoric site and the gsite cof Gerritsen
mill and asscociated hcuse, which are lacated withia Marine Parl
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It is possible that populaticn increase in the area, stimulated
by the propcsed rezoning, might lead to the need for Park im-
provements. Should such improvements be undertaken, they could
adversely affect any intact archaealogical deposits that might be
present in this area.

If the proposed rezening leads to the need for new utilitiss
connections in the block bounded by East 63rd a2nd East 64th
Streets and Avenues U and V, east of the project area, it is pos-
sible that trenching required for this work cculd zffect any in-
tact archaeological resources associated with the Schenck houss
and mill.
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